FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/12/2025 3:22 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

COA NO. 39509-0-III

Case #: 1045735

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

MARTIN THOMAS STANLEY,

Respondent

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR OKANOGAN COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ALBERT LIN
Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney

THOMAS C. PAYNTER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney 237 Fourth Avenue North Okanogan, Washington 98840-1130 (509) 422-7280 FAX (509) 422-7290

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is the State of Washington, by and through the Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney.

CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The State seeks review of State of Washington v.

Martin Thomas Stanley, 39509-0-III, filed July 3, 2025.

The State moved for reconsideration, which the court of appeals denied without comment on August 14, 2025.

INTRODUCTION

While drinking and driving, Mr. Stanley lost control of his vehicle, which rolled. One passenger, Michael Timentwa, suffered a broken leg and the other, Isabel Englert, who was 15 years old, was killed. Stanley's blood alcohol level was over twice the legal limit.

Admissions from Stanley and testimony from Timentwa proved that Stanley was the driver. The jury found him guilty of vehicular homicide and vehicular assault.

On appeal, Stanley claimed that the court erred in denying his GR 37 objection to the State's use of a peremptory challenge against juror 29, who identified as half Hispanic and half Caucasian. The court of appeals agreed and vacated the conviction. In so holding, the court misconstrued the record so badly as to put this case in conflict with other cases from the court of appeals and from this Court.

First, the court claimed that four other jurors gave answers similar to juror 29 but were not struck. The record, however, shows that not one of these four jurors gave similar answers to juror 29.

Second, the court faulted the State for saying that the juror had no life experience even though, according to the court, the State never asked the juror about her life experiences. In fact, the State asked the juror about a variety of life experiences, including whether she had had the experience of having children, of having gone to parties as a teenager involving underage drinking, or of getting in trouble as a teenager.

Finally, the court said that the State
mischaracterized the juror's answers. The State's
characterizations of the juror's answers, however, were
reasonable in context or at worst rhetorical
overstatements. The State's reasons for striking the juror
were grounded in her answers. Unlike other cases

finding GR 37 violations, the court identified no racial or ethnic stereotype that might have been a factor.

Furthermore, no Washington case has held that mischaracterization alone is enough to cause a reasonable objective observer to believe that race could have been a factor in the challenge. In the context of oral argument conducted in real time at trial, without the benefit of a transcript, some mischaracterizations of juror's answers are inevitable and do not alone support a GR 37 objection.

Once the record is properly understood, the opinion is so at odds with published cases from the court of appeals and with decisions of this Court as to create a conflict in the case law, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). The application of GR 37 is also a new and evolving area of law of substantial public interest. This Court should grant review under RAP

13.4(b)(4) to clarify the standards applicable to GR 37 objections.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the court of appeals misconstrue the record when it said that four jurors gave similar answers to juror 29?
- 2. Did the court of appeals misconstrue the record when it said that the State did not ask juror 29 about her life experience?
- 3. Do the State's characterizations of juror 29's answers support finding a GR 37 violation?
- 4. Does the opinion here represent a conflict with Washington case law or a matter of public interest worthy of review under RAP 13.4?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After a day of drinking, Stanley lost control of his truck, injuring passenger Michael Timentwa and killing

passenger Isabel Englert, 15 years old. Opinion 1-2. The case went to jury trial. Opinion 2.

After voir dire, the State peremptorily challenged juror 29, who was half Puerto Rican and half Caucasian. RP 328, 338. The State justified the challenge this way:

The reason we struck her was based upon her answers. She was raised by her grandparents. She was not allowed to go anywhere or do anything. She never did anything wrong. She has no life experiences.

RP at 328-29. The defense made a GR 37 objection, but the court denied it. RP 328, 340.

The jury convicted Stanley, but the court of appeals reversed, holding that the court erred in denying the defense's GR 37 objection to the State's challenge to juror 29. Opinion 6, 13-14.

ARGUMENT

I. Contrary to the opinion, no other juror was asked similar questions and gave similar answers to juror 29.

The opinion gives several reasons for finding a GR 37 violation. The opinion claims that along with juror 29, five jurors "were asked about their experience with underage drinking either with their children or their own experience." Opinion 12. It claims that four of the five gave answers like juror 29's, but were not struck, implying that race was a factor in the challenge to juror 29. Opinion 12. In fact, however, none of the four gave similar answers; the State singled out juror 29 not because of her race, but because her answers were unique.

First, recall that the State's stated reason for striking juror 29 was: "She was raised by her grandparents. She was not allowed to go anywhere or do anything. She never did anything wrong. She has no life experiences."

RP 329. (The accuracy of this summary of juror 29's answers is addressed below.) Thus, the State's reason for the strike was not limited to "experience with underage drinking", nor was its questioning so limited, as the court inaccurately said.

This case involved three people under the age of 21, at least two of whom—Stanley and Timentwa—were drinking heavily. In particular, the victim had just turned 15 and was out late at night with two older men on an outing that involved heavy alcohol consumption and dangerous driving. It was reasonable for the State to be concerned that Juror 29 would not be able to relate to the situation and to the victim in particular. "The justification for peremptory strikes is that trial attorneys have instincts about which jurors will be best for their case." *Lahman*, 17 Wash. App. 2d at 932. The record suggests that the State felt that jurors without experience with youthful

misbehavior and risk-taking might tend to blame Ms.

Englert for being in the vehicle that night.

The first of the five jurors identified by the court is juror 3. Juror 3 admitted to going to parties as a teenager where drinking was involved. RP 246. However, her testimony did not stop there. She also agreed that drinking can affect people's judgment, leading them to take "Risks that are dangerous[.]" RP 248. This familiarity with underage drinking and resultant risky behavior makes juror 3 dissimilar to juror 29, who did not express any familiarity with these things and denied ever having "fun like Number 3." Opinion 3.

The second juror identified by the court is juror 6.

The court is correct that juror 6 did not talk about underage drinking or other serious misbehavior on the part of herself or her children. The Court is incorrect, however, in asserting that the State asked her about such misbehavior. The State asked her if having four

teenagers at home was "challenging," and juror 6 acknowledged that it was, because "They have a lot of after-school activities." RP 234. The State then asked how the juror would determine which of her children were telling the truth if she were trying to determine which of them ate a cookie before dinner. RP 235. The State's first question about underage drinking was posed to the panel after the conclusion of the State's conversation with juror 6. RP 237. Thus, although the court was correct to say that juror 6, like juror 29, did not mention underage drinking or other serious misbehavior by herself or her children, the court is incorrect that she was ever asked about that topic. The State had limited time for voir dire and did not question every juror about every topic; contrary to the court's assertion in the opinion, juror 6 was one of many members of the panel who was not asked questions similar to those the State directed at juror 29.

The next juror is juror 13. The court is correct that juror 13 did not mention issues related to underage drinking. The Court is incorrect, however, that the State's questions were limited to underage drinking. The State's question was: "But you still remember what it was Like [when your children were young]? [...] Good or bad or... Because we all who are parents have had kids when they get to that teenager thing it's kind of a challenge, right?" RP 241. Again, the court is incorrect that the State's questions were limited to "underage drinking". Opinion 12. The State's questions indicate it was interested in juvenile misbehavior more broadly. In response, juror 13 mentioned her children riding motorcycles in a dangerous way. RP 241. This familiarity with youthful risky behavior makes juror 13's answers dissimilar to juror 29's, who did not mention anything like dangerous motorcycle riding.

The next juror is juror 36. Again, the State's questions to juror 36 were about juvenile misbehavior more broadly, not just underage drinking: "So going back to your kids when they were teens, what was that like? [...] Ups and downs? [...] You experienced where they got in trouble? [...] Did they ever get in trouble at home with your rules, whatever they were?" RP 251-52. Juror 36 said that her children had misbehaved in the form of "just missing the curfew, driving without a license." This familiarity with illegal driving makes juror 36's answers dissimilar to juror 29's. Regarding missing curfew, the juror described that as "she just wouldn't be home when she was expected home... You were supposed to be home at this time, and you weren't. Because so-and-so didn't want to leave the get-together when you did...." These curfew violations are more serious than those described by juror 29, who mentioned being "like a minute late"—another difference between the answers of jurors 36 and 29.

The final juror is juror 24, whose children, the court recognized, "struggled as teenagers with drinking and law enforcement contacts." Opinion 12. Note that the State did not initially ask this juror about underage drinking either, asking instead, "[T]ell me about your kids.... [Were they] the Brady Bunch?" RP 237. Only when juror 24 mentioned that her children drank did the State ask about that further. RP 238. She also mentioned her children driving four-wheelers and running from the police. RP 238. As the court acknowledged, juror 24's answers were dissimilar to juror 29's.

Together, the record shows that the court's statement that the State asked these five jurors about underage drinking, and four of the five gave similar answers to juror 29, is completely incorrect.

- Juror 3 was asked about underage drinking, admitted that she drank underage, and acknowledged that underage drinking can lead to dangerous behavior.
- Juror 6 was not asked about underage drinking or juvenile misbehavior generally, but only about how she would tell which of her children were telling the truth, using the example of a missing cookie.
- Juror 13 was asked about juvenile misbehavior in general, and mentioned her children riding motorcycles dangerously.
- Juror 36 was asked about juvenile misbehavior in general, and mentioned missing curfew and driving without a license.
- Juror 24 was asked about her children's behavior in general, and mentioned misbehavior including drinking and running from the police.

Contrary to the opinion, not one of these jurors was asked similar questions to juror 29, gave similar answers, and was not struck. The only juror who did not mention

juvenile misbehavior was juror 6, who was not asked about it. Each of the other jurors mentioned juvenile misbehavior more serious than juror 29. Recall that the only misbehavior Juror 29 mentioned was being "like a minute late" and getting "caught smoking one time".

Opinion 3. Whereas, leaving juror 6 aside, these jurors mentioned underage drinking, dangerous motorcycle riding, driving without a license, and running from the police (along with underage drinking). And when juror 36 discussed her daughter missing curfew, she talked about her daughter staying at a social event instead of coming home, not merely being a few minutes late, like juror 29.

Among jurors who were asked about their experiences with either their own or their children's youthful misbehavior, only juror 29 indicated that she had very strict parental figures so that she did not engage in any misbehavior more serious than smoking once or being slightly late. No objective observer could conclude

from this that juror 29 gave similar answers to these other jurors, and that the State singled her out to be struck because of her ethnicity.

II. Contrary to the opinion, the State did ask juror 29 about her life experiences.

Regarding the State's statement about juror 29 that "She has no life experiences," the court said, "[L]ike the prosecutor in *Lahman*, the prosecutor here never asked juror 29 about her 'life experiences' either as a minor or as an adult, making the justification about juror 29 having 'no life experiences' unsupported by the record." Opinion 11-12 (referring to *State v. Lahman*, 17 Wash.App.2d 925, 934, 488 P.3d 881 (2021).) The court also criticized the lack of life experience justification as vague and therefore suspect under GR 37. Opinion 13. The State, however, did question juror 29 about a variety of relevant life experiences, making the court's statement to the

contrary frankly inexplicable. And in context, the State's remark was not vague.

It is true that the State never asked a question like "Tell me about your life experiences?" Such a question, however, would be so broad as to be useless in voir dire. Here, the State asked juror 29 questions such as:

- "How many kids do you have[?]"
- "Did you ever have fun like Number 3?"
- "Did you ever get in trouble? [...] What for?"
- "Did you ever get in trouble for something you didn't do?"

RP 248-250. At the risk of stating the obvious, these are questions about "life experiences": the life experience of having kids, the life experience of going to parties featuring underage drinking, and the life experience of getting in trouble.

In contrast, in *Lahman* the juror was asked questions about just two subjects: why jury service is important, and whether the juror would "stick to [his] guns"

during deliberations. 17 Wash.App.2d at 930. The juror in *Lahman* was not asked a single question about his life experiences; the juror here was asked several. The court's statement that she was not asked about her life experience is contrary to the record.

The court's description of the "life experiences" justification as vague is also without merit. Opinion 13. The justification is vague only when taken out of context. Remarks at trial must be taken in context. *State v. Austin*, 136 Wash. 499, 505, 240 P. 676 (1925) (instructions); State v. Fuller, 169 Wash. App. 797, 812, 282 P.3d 126 (2012) (remarks by prosecutor). In context, an objective observer would have understood the State to be referring to the juror's lack of experience with relevant youthful misbehavior. Indeed, the trial court had no difficulty understanding that the State was referring to her lack of "'worldly experiences' as indicated on the record by her questioning." RP 330. Defense counsel also understood

the State to be saying that the juror was "not worldly". RP 333. GR 37 objections are reviewed de novo, but the manner in which those present understood the remarks can certainly inform this Court's understanding of the cold record. In context, the prosecutor's reference to the juror's lack of life experiences was directed at a lack of life experiences that might give her understanding and sympathy for the victim's tragic presence of in the truck with Mr. Stanley on the night she died.

III. The State's characterizations of the juror's answers do not support finding a GR 37 violation.

Another factor the court relied upon in finding a GR 37 violation was that the State mischaracterized the juror's answers by saying that the juror "...was raised by her grandparents. She was not allowed to go anywhere or do anything. She never did anything wrong." Opinion 4,

11. The supposed mischaracterization is an insufficient basis on which to uphold a GR 37 objection.

First, note that mischaracterization of a juror's responses is not mentioned in GR 37 as a circumstance that could support a challenge. Of course, such mischaracterizations are part of the totality of the circumstances that a court must consider. *Lahman*, 17 Wash.App.2d at 934. But the State has found no Washington case in which mischaracterization alone was enough to support a GR 37 challenge. In State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 250, 429 P.3d 467 (2018) (cited in the opinion at 9), mischaracterization of the juror's answers was only one factor; the State also asked more questions of the minority juror than of other jurors, the juror gave similar answers to other jurors who were not struck, and the State "called out Juror 10 with a sarcastic comment for no apparent reason." *Id.* at 234236, 250.¹ And in *State v. Tesfasilasye*, 200 Wash. 2d 345, 361, 518 P.3d 193 (2022), the Court relied not only on the State's misrepresentation of juror 3's answers, but also on the State's failure to strike another juror who gave similar answers. Both cases relied on factors other than the misrepresentation alone.

Second, the opinion does not take into account that the State made its argument without the benefit of reviewing a transcript of the juror's answers. *State v. Bell*, 571 P.3d 272, 277 (Wash. 2025) (de novo review of GR 37 challenges is appropriate because the Court has "the benefit of being able to review the whole record, including the process and transcript of specific dialogues during voir dire—an action that would be impractical for trial court judges to take...."). GR 37 is intended to combat

¹ *Jefferson* predates GR 37, and was decided under the standard of *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). 192 Wn.2d at 250-51.

racial bias, not to create a minefield in which any mischaracterization of a juror's answers, made by an attorney arguing in real time from memory of the answers of dozens of jurors during multiple rounds of questioning, requires a new trial. A mischaracterization does not support a GR 37 objection unless something about the mischaracterization could cause an objective observer to think that race was a factor in the challenge.

Third, the State's characterizations here were rhetorical hyperbole, not a true misrepresentation of the juror's responses, in contrast with *Jefferson* and *Tesfasilasy*. In *Jefferson*, the State asserted that the juror had admitted bringing "extraneous evidence" into deliberations during prior jury service. 192 Wn.2d at 237-38. In fact the juror had only acknowledged referring to "matters that were not germane" to the case the prior jury was considering. *Id.* at 237. In other words, the State misrepresented an admission to straying off topic during

deliberations as an admission to committing serious juror misconduct by bringing extraneous evidence into deliberations. And in *Tesfasilasye*, the State claimed that the juror had given an "unreasonable" answer "about there needing to be eyewitnesses to a rape case," when in fact the juror had simply mentioned evidence "he would like to see from the State…including eyewitnesses and DNA samples." 200 Wash. 2d at 197, 201.

Here, although the Court is correct that the juror never said in so many words that she was raised by her grandparents, she plainly implied as much:

MR. LIN: Did you ever have fun like Number 3?²

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Nope.

MR. LIN: No?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I had very strict

grandparents.

MR. LIN: Oh, okay.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: You had to be home, and if you were not home you were in trouble --

² Juror 3 admitted having gone to parties where alcohol was involved as a teenager. RP 245-46.

25

MR. LIN: Well, let's talk --

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: -- because you needed to

be home. [...]

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: If I was like a minute

late I got into trouble.

RP 249 (emphasis added). The logical inference from these answers is that she had very strict grandparents whom she lived with, that she had to be home on time to the home where she lived with her grandparents, and that if she was a minute late coming back to her grandparents' home, she was in trouble with her grandparents. If she lived with her grandparents and they were the ones who set the rules for her and enforced them, then in the absence of any mention of her parents or other contrary information, the logical inference is that she was raised by her grandparents. The prosecutor's statement that she was raised by her grandparents was not a mischaracterization.

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