FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/2/2025 4:19 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No. 104573-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

MARTIN STANLEY,

Respondent.

ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MOSES OKEYO Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 wapofficemail@washapp.org

A.	INTRODUCTION
В.	ISSUE
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT
	This case involved a straightforward application of GR 37, and there is no basis for review
	a. This Court should deny review because the petition meets none of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).
	b. The petition tries to trivialize the prosecutor's misrepresentation of Juror 29's statements but only highlights the correctness of the Court of Appeals GR 37 analysis
	c. At the core of this petition is a fundamental misunderstanding and discomfort with the implications of GR 37's legal standard17
	d. This is not a question of substantial public interest
Ε.	CONCLUSION
ΑF	PENDIX26

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

\underline{Cases}

State v. Bell,
Wn.3d, 571 P.3d 272 (2025)16, 18, 19, 25
State v. Jefferson, 192 Wn.2d 225, 429 P.3d 467 (2018)
State v. Lahman, 17 Wn. App. 2d 925, 488 P.3d 881 (2021) passim
State v. Listoe, 15 Wn. App. 2d 308, 475 P.3d 534 (2020)25
State v. Orozco, 19 Wn. App. 2d 367, 496 P.3d 1215 (2021)25
State v. Tesfasilasye, 200 Wn.2d 345, 518 P.3d 193 (2022)23, 25
$\underline{Rules\ of\ Appellate\ Procedure}$
RAP 13.41

A. INTRODUCTION

The State seeks review of an unpublished opinion applying GR 37 after the trial court clearly erred by applying an incorrect standard. The State primarily complains about the Court of Appeals' recitation of the facts, which is clearly not a basis for review. To the extent it addresses any legal issues, it applies the wrong standard.

The Court of Appeals applied the right standard, evaluated the totality of the circumstances, and correctly concluded an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the exercise of the peremptory challenge. Since this case involved a straightforward application of GR 37, there is no basis for review.

Put differently, the petition meets none of the criteria set out in RAP 13.4(b), it merely quibbles with

the details, which is not a basis for review. The State's displeasure with the Court of Appeals' rendition of facts is not a reason for review. There is no conflict, no constitutional issue, and no matter of substantial public interest.

This Court should hold the State to the same standard other litigants are required to meet. Because the petition meets none of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b), this Court should deny review.

B. ISSUE

Should this Court deny review because the Court of Appeals applied settled GR 37 precedent to the facts and issued a well-reasoned unpublished opinion holding that an objective observer *could* view race as a factor in the prosecutor's use of the peremptory to exclude Juror 29?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In Martin Stanley's jury trial, the State exercised a peremptory strike against Juror 29, a Puerto Rican woman. Defense counsel objected under GR 37, arguing an objective observer could view race as a factor in the strike. See RP 340. The trial court overruled the objection, concluding the peremptory was not based on race because the prosecutor asked the juror questions and had "given a reason" for the strike. *Slip*. Op. 1, 10.

In an unpublished opinion the Court of Appeals recognized that the trial court applied the wrong standard and reversed and held that an "objective observer could view race as a factor" after reviewing the totality of circumstances. Slip. Op. 1, 11-13. The Court of Appeals reasoned although the State claimed its characterization of juror 29's comments was reasonable given the limited time for voir dire, Juror

29 never stated that she was raised by her grandparents or that she was prohibited from going places or doing things. Slip. Op. at 5. Nor did juror 29 say, as the prosecutor claimed, that she "never did anything wrong." Id. at 11; RP 329. In fact, juror 29 offered a specific example of misconduct: she was disciplined for smoking as a teenager. Slip. Op. 12; RP 249-50. She missed curfew, just like Juror 36's kids missed curfew, but the State struck Juror 29 and not Juror 36. Moreover, as in *State v. Lahman*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 925, 929, 931, 936, 488 P.3d 881 (2021), the prosecutor never asked juror 29 about her life experiences—either as a minor or an adult—rendering the claim that she lacked such experiences unsupported by the record. GR 37(g)(i). Slip. Op. 11-12.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals concluded that several seated jurors failed to indicate any notable life experiences. Slip. Op. 12. The prosecutor asked multiple jurors—including juror 29—about their ability to assess credibility and their experience with underage drinking. Id. Although juror 29 denied any experience with underage drinking, her responses mirrored those of other jurors. Id. Four of those five jurors indicated that they did not have issues with their children drinking as teenagers. Id. Juror 3 described her children as "pretty easy" and free of drinking issues, though she admitted to drinking as a teenager Id. Juror 13 said her children did not have drinking issues as teenagers but drove recklessly on motorcycles. Juror 36 raised three children and described their teenage years as a "roller coaster," citing missed curfews and traffic tickets—but no

underage drinking. *Id*. Finally, the Court of Appeals noted that a justification based on lack of "life experience" is vague and akin to the presumptively invalid reasons listed in GR 37, and is therefore subject to heightened scrutiny. Slip. Op. 13. *Bell* notes that such justifications "are similar to the presumptively invalid reasons listed in the rule." *Id*.

The State filed a petition for review, asking this

Court to reverse the Court of Appeals, arguing that the
strike was race-neutral and the Court of Appeals

misapplied GR 37. It insists Court of Appeals

misunderstood the facts and that "[t]he circumstances

would give an objective observer reason to believe that

race was not a factor in the challenge." Pet. For Review

at 20, 27-28 (emphasis added).

D. ARGUMENT

The Court should deny the State's petition for review because it primarily complains about the Court of Appeals' recitation of the facts. The Court of Appeals correctly characterized the record and correctly applied the rule to the facts of the case. The prosecutor's quibbling about the details is simply defensiveness; it is not a basis for review.

Moreover, the unremarkable petition severally applies the wrong legal standard: severally discusses whether an objective observer "would" view race as a factor. Pet. For Review at 20, 27. Other times it muddles the "would" with the "could" standards. *Id.* at 27-28. As an example, the petition argues: "[t]he circumstances would give an objective observer reason to believe that race was not a factor in the challenge." Pet. For Review at 20, 27-28. This standard flips the rule on its head.

More importantly, the petition offers no principled reasoning why the Court should change the current workable GR 37 standard.

To be clear, the question is whether, under the totality of circumstances, an objective observer could view race as a factor in the challenge. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded the answer was "yes" after performing a straightforward GR 37 analysis and correctly concluded an objective observer could view race as a factor in the prosecutor's strike of Juror 29. There is no basis for review.

This case involved a straightforward application of GR 37, and there is no basis for review.

- a. This Court should deny review because the petition meets none of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).
 - i. This case presents no conflict, constitutional issue, or question of substantial public interest meriting review under RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) limits the cases appropriate for this Court's review. The rule provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court <u>only</u>:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

The State's petition meets none of these criteria.

The case does not meet either of the first two criteria because there is no conflict. Far from disagreeing with prior cases, the Court of Appeals applied this Court's cases and its own cases and straightforwardly concluded an objective observer could view race as a factor in the strike of Juror 29.

Nor does subsection (3) apply. There is no constitutional issue; instead, the prosecution merely bemoans the Court's ruling under GR 37.

Finally, there is no issue of substantial public interest warranting review under subsection (4). The Court of Appeals simply applied existing law to the facts. The opinion is not published, not binding, and

not of interest to anyone other than the litigants in this case.

ii. The Court of Appeals properly applied settled law to the facts.

This Court is not an error-correction court, and in any event, the Court of Appeals properly applied GR 37 to the facts of this case. There is no conflict, no constitutional question, and no issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b).

The State primarily complains about the Court of Appeals' recitation of the facts, and this is not a basis for review. To the extent the State addresses the legal issues, it applies and seems to advocate for the wrong standard. Pet. For Review at 20, 27-28. There is no basis for review. RAP 13.4(b).

b. The petition tries to trivialize the prosecutor's misrepresentation of Juror 29's statements but only highlights the correctness of the Court of Appeals GR 37 analysis.

The petition argues that, contrary to the Court of Appeals' findings, the prosecutor's summary of Juror 29's background was either accurate or an objective observer would not view race as a factor in the prosecutor's off-the-cuff misrepresentations of Juror 29's responses. Pet. For Review at 27. The State asks this Court to look past how it mischaracterized Juror 29's answers regarding youthful misbehavior, Pet. for Review at 26-27, and insists the misrepresentation "alone" is insufficient to sustain a GR 37 objection. *Id.* at 22-23. But the State misunderstands GR 37 in a multitude of ways.

The State claims it sought to exclude "jurors without experience with youthful misbehavior." Pet. for

Review at 10-11. But as the Court of Appeals recognized, Juror 29 had experience with "youthful misbehavior." When the prosecutor asked Juror 29 whether she ever got in trouble, she said "oh yes." RP 249-50. She explained she got in trouble for smoking and got in trouble for coming home late. *Id.* Thus, if the prosecutor wanted jurors who engaged in youthful misbehavior, it would not have struck Juror 29.

Indeed, the State kept Juror 36, a white juror who talked about her kids missing curfew. RP 252. But it struck Juror 29, a juror of color who missed curfew. An objective observer could view race as a factor leading to the State's disparate treatment of those jurors—even more so now that the State insists that Juror 36's "curfew violations are more serious than those described by juror 29" because "she talked about her daughter staying at a social event instead of

coming home, not merely being a few minutes late, like juror 29." Pet. for Review at 14, 17.

The State also admits it did not strike Juror 6, a juror who "did not mention underage drinking or other serious misbehavior by herself or her children." Pet. for Review at 12.

Tellingly, the State insists it can distinguish these jurors based on minor factual differences (e.g., "serious curfew violations" vs. minor curfew violations) that does not affect their ability to assess credibility and their experience with underage drinking.

But *Bell* cautions that such comparisons are not dispositive. The issue is not whether reasons proffered for the strike were reasonable or whether other jurors were similarly situated—it is whether race could have played a role in the strike. This is why, of course, the State's insistence that the standard allows a strike if

an objective observer could "not" view race as a factor gets it backwards: so long as an objective observer could determine race played a role, the strike is prohibited, regardless of the circumstances.

An objective observer could view race as a factor in the use of the strike to exclude Juror 29, a Puerto Rican, while allowing other jurors to serve though they were similarly situated. In sum, the prosecutor's claim that he struck Juror 29 because of a lack of youthful misbehavior fails the objective observer test.

The State suggests the Court of Appeals relied on the prosecutor's innocent, off-the-cuff, mischaracterization alone to conclude a reasonable observer could view race as a factor in the decision to strike Juror 29. Pet. For Review 6, 22-23. That supposition is belied by the part of the opinion comparing the prosecutor's justification for striking

Juror 29 to the presumptively invalid reasons under GR 37: "Finally, we note that a justification based on lack of 'life experience' is vague and similar to the presumptively invalid reasons listed in the rule is subject to scrutiny under GR 37." Slip. Op at 13. And the opinion relied on the failure to strike similarly situated jurors as well.

Moreover, *Bell* emphasizes that a prosecutor's mischaracterizations—especially those tied to stereotypes—support a GR 37 violation. The prosecutor's claim that Juror 29 "never did anything wrong" and had "no life experiences" was contrary to the record and steeped in racialized assumptions. *State v. Bell*, ___Wn.3d____, 571 P.3d 272, 279 (2025) GR 37 is designed to prevent precisely this kind of vague, stereotype-laden justification from influencing jury selection.

An objective observer could well view race as a factor if a prosecutor mischaracterizes a juror's statements in justifying a strike. But regardless, here, the State mischaracterized the juror's answers, failed to strike similarly situated jurors, and offered vague justifications of the type historically used to discriminate in jury selection. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that under the totality of circumstances an objective observer could view race as a factor. There is no basis for review. RAP 13.4(b).

c. At the core of this petition is a fundamental misunderstanding and discomfort with the implications of GR 37's legal standard.

The trial court did not apply the correct GR 37 legal framework. The petition fails to grapple with that legal error, reargues the facts, and downplays the significance of the prosecutor's mischaracterizations of

Juror 29's statements and insists the strike was not motivated by racial bias or racial stereotypes.

Specifically, the petition repeatedly argues that the peremptory strike of Juror 29 was not "based on race." But GR 37 does not require a finding of purposeful discrimination. As this Court's most recent opinion on the issue, Bell, explains, the relevant question is whether "an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge." Bell, 571 P.3d at 276 (citing GR 37(e)). The rule explicitly rejected the *Batson* framework and adopted a broader, structural approach to implicit bias. *Id. Bell* teaches that because the stakes are high, and it can be extremely difficult to determine when a justification is influenced by racial bias, trial courts must be especially prudent in denying peremptory challenges in light of GR 37 objections to

fulfill the rule's purpose and avoid reversal on appeal.
571 P.3d at 278.

The petition asks this Court to reverse because the county prosecutor had no racist intent: "There is no indication that race might have been a factor in the challenge." Pet. for Review at 35.

The petition boils down to a naked insistence that the prosecutor's strike of juror 29 was not based on purposeful discrimination. Under GR 37, intent is no longer part of the equation, so we no longer look to determine whether the prosecuting attorney in fact intended to exclude Juror 29 because was a person of color. Instead, after a GR 37 objection, the trial court must determine, looking at all the circumstances, whether an objective observer could conclude that race or ethnicity was a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge. GR 37(d), (g); *Bell*, 571 P.3d at 295–96.

The petition's insistence on race-neutral intent is doctrinally incompatible with GR 37 and *Bell*. The Court of Appeals correctly applied GR 37 consistent with *Bell*'s framework and reversed the conviction.

Review should be denied.

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